## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIFC OPY NO. 2007-KA-00691-COA

#### **BRYANT CARTER**

APPELLANT

V.

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## 

APPELLEE

## OCT 1 9 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No.

Counsel for Appellant

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-00691-COA

### **BRYANT CARTER**

APPELLANT

**APPELLEE** 

V.

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO QUALIFY CATHERINE DIXON AND KEITH STOVALL AS EXPERTS?
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THERE WAS PREJUDICIAL MISUSE OF THE TENDER YEARS EXCEPTION?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY THE PROSECUTOR COACHING THE PROSECUTRIX IN OPEN COURT?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER SEVERAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS PREJUDICED THE DEFENSE?
- ISSUE NO. 5: WHETHER THE SENTENCE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE OFFENSE?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi where

Bryant Carter was convicted of sexual battery under MCA §97-3-95(d) (Rev. 1998)<sup>1</sup>. A

jury trial was conducted January 24-26, 2007, with Honorable Michael Taylor Circuit

Judge, presiding. Carter was sentenced to life in prison and is presently incarcerated

with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

<sup>1</sup> 

MCA 97-3-95(1) A person is guilty of sexual battery if he or she engages in sexual penetration with: ...(d) A child under the age of fourteen (14) years of age, if the person is twenty-four (24) or more months older than the child.

#### **FACTS**

In 2004, V. K.<sup>2</sup> was eight (8) years old and her parents were separated. [T. 333-37]. V. K. and her younger brother lived with their mother Melissa in Pike County, Mississippi. *Id.* Some time around January 2004, Melissa became romantically involved with the appellant Bryant Carter. *Id.* About a month later in February 2004, Carter moved in with Melissa and V. K. and the younger child. [T. 334-35]. They initially lived in an apartment, then in March they moved into a run down pink mobile home and lived there until July or August of 2004 at which time they moved to a nicer trailer. [T. 336-37].

Carter and Melissa broke up in January 2005, and Melissa "put him out". [T. 338-39]. In April 2005, three months after Carter moved out, V. K. allegedly told Melissa that Carter "touched her". [T. 338]. Melissa became upset and called the Pike County Sheriff's Office, and the person who answered the phone at the sheriff's office told Melissa to go get a "rape kit" done on V. K. [T. 340-41]. Melissa became upset and called her mother instead. *Id*.

On April 14, 2005, an anonymous call was placed to the Mississippi Department of Human Services ("DHS" herein) and DHS personnel left a note on Melissa's door to call in; she complied. [T. 279- 342]. The next day April 15, 2005, Melissa took V. K. to meet with a DHS social worker Kim Weaver who briefly interviewed V. K. and set up an

Following established protocol, the prosecutrix's initials are used instead of her name.

appointment with the Children's Advocacy Center ("CAC" herein) and a doctor. [T. 281-83, 343].

The CAC interview was conducted by Keith R. Stovall. The interview was video recorded and introduced into evidence at trial. [Ex. S-3; T. 394-95, 375-425].

In the interview V. K. was reticent; but, said that Carter inserted two fingers into her vagina and rubbed her buttocks on several occasions while they were in the pink trailer and subsequently. [Ex. S-3]. V. K.'s descriptions indicated that most if not all of the occurrences of alleged abuse occurred when Melissa the mother was present and nearby. [Ex. S-3]. V. K.'s trial testimony was basically the same. [T. 438, *et seq.*].

The Pike County Sheriff's Office was called in at some point. [T. 285]. The CAC set up a physical exam with a nurse practitioner. [T. 344-45] The practitioner was so rough with V. K. that Melissa took the child and left before the exam was complete. *Id.* V. K. was taken to a gynecologist who examined V. K. on May 10, 2005, five months after any possible abuse, and found that there was some redness of unknown origin and that the child's vaginal opening was slightly enlarged, consistent with digital penetration. [T. 506, 526-27].

Keith Stovall, the CAC worker who conducted the interview with V. K. testified for the state as an expert in forensic interviewing and sponsored introduction of the video of the interview. [T.388, 394-95; Ex. S-3] Another CAC social worker named Catherine Dixon testified as an expert in the field of forensic interviewing and child sexual abuse and development. [T. 466] Both represented to the court that they were trained in and used certain interviewing techniques. Stovall and Dixon said they follow established interviewing techniques, but, swore that there is nothing scientific about what they do nor any possible way to objectively verify any of their conclusions or subjective beliefs. [T. 33-37, 410-412]. Nevertheless, they both concluded that V. K.'s statement and behavior were consistent with those of a sexually abused child. [T.405, 480-81].

The evidence which convicted Carter consisted of V. K.'s testimony plus the video of her interview combined with a total of eight (8) additional witnesses who repeated the abuse allegations under the tender years exception to the hearsay rule under Miss. R. Evid. 803(25). This included the two experts who said V. K.'s allegations were consistent with an abused child. The eight witnesses were: Karen Weathers with DHS [T. 280]; Davis Haygood, Pike County Sheriff's Investigator [T. 298-301, 312-14]; V. K.'s mother, Melissa [T. 338-39]; Keith Stovall with CAC [T.375-423 ]; Thomas Gonsalves a counseling social worker and his report [Ex. S-4; T. 429]; Catherine Dixon who did not repeat the actual allegations, but did expound considerably on the details of the interview and who gave her opinion on the credibility of V. K. [T. 461-481]; nurse Karen Touchstone and her report [Ex. S-6; T. 514-15]; Dr. Leigh Cher Gray [T. 526].

There was testimony that V. K.'s father had access to her. He was physically abusive towards Melissa and abused drugs. [T. 362].

Carter testified that he never touched V. K. improperly. [T.561-90]. He explained

that any wrongful touching could not have transpired as alleged because the layout of the trailers where they lived would not have permitted such conduct to go unnoticed by Melissa. *Id.* Bryant explained that after he and Melissa broke up in January of 2005, Melissa approached him about getting back together, and he declined. *Id.* The next thing he knew, he had been accused of the wrongful acts. *Id.* 

The appellant also offered the expert testimony of Gary Mooers, Ph. D. [T. 593 *et seq.*]. Dr. Mooers testified that V. K.'s testimony was not consistent with a child that had been abused. [T. 599, 602, 611, 613]. First and foremost, V. K. provided little or no detail. [T. 602-07, 609-14]. Secondly, the techniques of questioning by Stovall in the interview, were suggestive of detail, and the opinions of Dixon and Stovall were invalid. *Id.* Mooers said the CAC witnesses concluded many things consistent with abuse, which were just as consistent with not being abused, such as pausing to answer. *Id.* Dr. Mooers also explained that the protocol of the CAC itself does not insure accurate results. *Id.* He was critical that Stovall did not ask for more detail and he noted that V. K. only became emotional when she spoke of her mother allegedly being thrown down. *Id.* 

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Certain prosecution witnesses were not competent to give opinion testimony. The appellant was prejudiced by gross misuse of the tender years exception to hearsay which prevented a fair trial, and which allowed to the state to unfairly bolster and re-bolster its case in chief. The prosecutrix was coached through her identification testimony in front of the jury and there were several admissions of seriously improper evidence. Finally, Carter should not have to die in prison for the offense charged in this case.

#### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO QUALIFY DIXON AND STOVALL AS EXPERTS?

In this argument, it is hoped that the validity of the trial counsel's arguments and objections to the qualification of Dixon and Stovall as experts will be revealed. Admission of expert opinion testimony is governed by Miss. R. Evid. 702<sup>3</sup> and the requirements set out in *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34-36 (Miss 2003). First a person offered as an expert must be qualified, secondly, the witness' knowledge must be able to assist the fact finder. *McLemore* 863 So. 2d 34-36. The trial court's rulings on expert testimony are reviewed on appeal under a standard of whether there was an abuse of discretion. See also, *Webb. v. Braswell*, 930 So. 387,

<sup>3</sup>Miss. R. Evid 702 states:

<sup>[</sup>i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

396-97 (Miss. 2006), Edmonds v. State, 955 So.2d 787, 791-92 (Miss. 2007).

In the present case, State witness Keith Stovall earned a masters degree in "counseling psychology, and his job at the CAC was therapist and "forensic interviewer". [T. 375-76]. Stovall's training included interviewing technique and interview evaluation. *Id.* Stovall's job at the CAC was to evaluate whether a child's statement of reported abuse was consistent with behavior patterns of abused children in general. He seeks to determine whether a child's statement "contain indicators of reliability." [T. 387]. Stovall was asked whether V. K.'s story was "faulty". [T. 380] The quality of an "unfaulty" accusation was not disclosed. Stovall said that V. K.'s accusations were not faulty, rather were "tentative", but were otherwise consistent with a child who had been abused. [T. 380].

Stovall said that his technique involves asking open ended questions. [T. 415]. However, the tape of the interview reveals many leading questions, such as "did he move his fingers around?" during the alleged touching events. [Ex. S-3; T. 415-421]. V. K. did not tell where she was touched until after Stovall presented pictures for her to look at. [T. 416]. V. K. did not disclose if the touching occurred over or under clothing until Stovall pressed her with an either-or question. [T. 416-27]. As described by the defense expert Dr. Mooers, "the only details in the interview were ones that were provided by the interviewer." [T. 602].

Stovall said, he had never been wrong, but there were occasions when juries did

not agree with him. [T. 413-14]. Juries are wrong, not him. This self-authentification is hard to argue with since his assessments cannot be verified or tested. [T. 410-412]. Dixon concurred. [T. 33-37]. Of course, this begs the question, if Stovall's findings cannot be tested, how does he know if he is accurate or not?

State witness Catherine Dixon, also with the CAC, admitted knowing that she had been wrong in the past, but could not qualify as to why, nor give the court any information as to the quantity or frequency of invalid conclusions. [T. 33-37]. The reason for this, as Dixon succinctly put it, "We can't keep records of something that is not discoverable". [T. 34]. Dixon said there is no scientific way to judge the accuracy of their assessments. "I am not offering the forensic interview as a tested procedure." [T. 36] Their questioning techniques cannot be verified. *Id.* "[I]t's an art, not a science." [T. 37] There are too many unquantifiable variables [T. 38-40].

The record in this case reveals that Stovall and Dixon failed all three requirement of the enumerated principles of Miss. R. Evid.702. The worst violation, however, pertains to number three (3) that in the qualifying of an expert, the trial court must determine that "the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case." The fact that Stovall did not ask open ended questions has already been shown above. There is more.

The third prong of Rule 702 referenced above is addressed in *McLemore*, where the court said:

The trial court is vested with a "gatekeeping responsibility.". The trial court must make a "preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning and methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue." [Citations omitted]. *McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 36.

As the testimony of Stovall and Dixon reveal, in applying the CAC evaluative

techniques, a child's accusatory statement could be false yet credible and consistent with

that of an abused child or be true yet incredible and inconsistent with the behavior of an

abused child. One is reminded of the admonition of the Court in Smith v. State, 925

So.2d 825, 838-39 (Miss. 2006),

"this Court cautions trial judges to prudently evaluate witnesses proffered as experts, as

not all who claim special expertise are so qualified."

Dixon said she looks for "elements of credibility" in a child's statement. [T. 34].

When asked to expound on this, Dixon said:

There's some very specific and some very nonspecific indicators of a child's credibility and the credibility of their statement. Nonspecific factors would be the child's affect, the child's tone of voice, the child's eye contact, the child's – just there general presentation in the interview. I don't think that those factors have been scientifically tested or – you know, and they fall more into the art rather than the science of doing forensic interviewing. Other factors which influence a child's credibility obviously would be the number and quantity and quality of contextual details that the child can provide. [T. 36-37]. [Emphasis added].

From this last phrase it would be reasonable to conclude that "contextual details" would be an "element of credibility". Not so according to Stovall. He describes how a child not giving details is indicative of a credible story. [T. 400-02]. Another way to put

it is, according to Stovall, the less the child knows, the more likely they have been abused.

Stovall not only thinks that juries who disagree with him are wrong; but, based on testimony from other reported cases, he also thinks that nine and ten year old children are generally stupid and incapable of communicating simple perceptions. It was reported in *Lattimer v. State*, 952 So. 2d 206, 220 (Miss. App. 2006), that Stovall made the assertion, "a ten year old child can't tell us what something tasted like, what something felt like, what something looked like". Not only does this conflict with Dixon's expressed goal to look for details, it reveals a fatal flaw in Stovall's approach. So long as Stovall can convince courts and juries that children are so brainless, Stovall, whose never been wrong, can substitute his own observations for that of the child, which is what is seen in the interview.

Anyone reading this brief was once ten years old and can easily remember describing how something tasted sweet, bitter, sour or salty and can remember describing something as cold, hot, soft and on occasion "icky" and can likewise remember telling somebody how cool so-and-so looked. It follows, therefore, that Stovall's approach is flawed *ab initio*.

Stovall counted "a total of 15 questions that [V. K.] responded [with] either "I don't know" or no answers, and all but two of those were in the bulk of the interview section specifically about abuse. Stovall offered the explanation that trauma is a "diminisher to memory". [T. 404]. He concluded that V. K. was "... in what we'd call a tentative state of disclosure...". [T 424].

The flaws are not all Stovall's. Even though Dixon swore that "quantity" and "quality" of detail garners credibility of a child's statement, almost all of Dixon's direct and cross was spent explaining why V. K.'s lack of detail and reticence indicated proof of veracity and credibility. [T. 461-502]. This would be another inconsistent application of their stated principles to the facts of this case.

It follows that, under the techniques and evaluative "art" of these two witness, giving details and not giving details both indicate credibility, veracity and truthfulness. So, according to Stovall and Dixon's testimony in this case, and the application of their technique, an indicator of trustworthiness is anything that the interviewer subjectively wants it to be. So, defense counsel's objections were totally accurate, totally valid, and totally supported by legal precedent, and the trial court's ruling was not in accord with the Rule 702 requirement that the experts' "reasoning and methodology" must be capable of proper application to the facts at issue.

The testimony from these two witnesses also establishes that Stovall did not reliably apply his "art" to the present case. Not only were the techniques revealed to be subjective, they were arbitrarily applied in this case. The application of the subjective technique was inconsistent and erratic. When asked whether he could test the reliability of his evaluation, Stovall admitted he could only evaluate himself, not the child. [T. 410].<sup>4</sup>

This testimony creates a Miss. R. Evid. 901 issue regarding authenticity addressed infra.

If Stovall is only evaluating himself, his testimony is irrelevant and in clear contradiction of the requirement that:

The party offering the expert's testimony must show that the expert has based his testimony on the methods and procedures of science, not merely his subjective beliefs or unsupported speculation. *McLemore* 863 So.2d at 35

Another defect in the methodology as applied in this case is that these witnesses only consider their findings "accurate" if there is a conviction. [T. 35]. This should be no surprise since there methods were a product of the American Prosecutor's Research Institute. [T. 407].

The state will be quick to say that the Court of Appeals has already ruled on Stovall and Dixon and the CAC in *Lattimer v. State*, 952 So.2d 206, (Miss. App.,2006), and the Supreme Court in *Smith v. State*, 925 So.2d 825, 838-39 (Miss. 2006.). Both are distinguishable.

The standards of admissibility set forth in *McLemore*, supra, are applied on a case by case basis. 863 So.2d 34-36. In *Lattimer*, some of the issues raised herein were not preserved, so, the present case is distinguishable. 952 So. 2d 221-22. In *Lattimer* there was improper testimony about witness "credibility"; but there was no preserving objection, so the court did not address it. *Id.* Here, in Carter's case that there were timely objections. In *Lattimer* there was no objection to the CAC witnesses giving an opinion about veracity. Here there was. Likewise in *Smith v. State*, there was no objection to Stovall testifying as an expert. 925 So. 2d at 834. Here there was.

221.

Appellant would ask the court to apply the wisdom of the decision in *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 996-97 (Miss. 2007) where there was no error in the trial court excluding an investigator's opinion testimony as an expert based on the application of specific investigatory techniques, proffered to show the inadequacy of the police investigation. The trial court's exclusion in *Ross* was based on a finding that the accuracy of the witness' technique could not be substantiated. Since it could not be substantiated, the *Ross* court found that the proffered testimony was not going to be any aid to the jury and was not relevant under Miss. R. Evid. 401 since it did not have "tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." *Id*.

*Ross* controls here. Stovall and Dixon should not have been allowed to give opinion testimony. The techniques they espoused were substantiated and not reliably nor consistently applied, were shown to be purely subjective and irrelevant not having any "tendency to make the existence of any fact that [was] of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence."

Plus, Stovall's comment that he cannot evaluate a child's testimony, but can only evaluate himself [T. 410], leads to the legal conclusion that Stovall's testimony is not

what it purports to be, and thus is not authentic under Miss. R. Evid. 901.<sup>5</sup> Authenticity is a condition precedent to admission of evidence. *Middlebrook v. State*, 555 So.2d 1009, 1012 (Miss. 1990). If the evidence is not authentic it is irrelevant according to the comments to the rule.

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