IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRYANT CARTER

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

DEC 1 0 2007

NO. 2007-KA-0691-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPLEME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Carter has wholly failed to show that the trial court was clearly erroneous in allowing Dixon and Stovall to testify as expert witnesses. Carter cites to no authority to support his proposition that the trial court erred in allowing "excessive" use of the tender-years exception. V.K.'s in-court identification of Carter was properly allowed and in no way prejudiced Carter. No substantial right belonging to Carter was violated by any of the trial court's evidentiary rulings. Finally, Carter's contention that his sentence is disproportionate to the crime committed is both procedurally barred and without merit.

ARGUMENT

I. KEITH STOVALL AND DR. CATHERINE DIXON'S EXPERT TESTIMONY WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

Dixon testified at the pretrial hearing on Carter's motion to disqualify Stovall and Dixon as expert witnesses. At the conclusion of her testimony, the trial court ruled that she was qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse, forensic interviewing of children, and child development, and that her testimony was both relevant and reliable. T. 51-54, 471. The court also ruled that defense witness Mooers was qualified as an expert in the field of social work, child welfare, and child maltreatment. T. 92-93. After these rulings, defense counsel noted that Dixon and Stovall had similar training and relied on the same principles in their work. T. 97. Defense counsel stated, "[W]hile not conceding that [Stovall] is an expert, I would at this time stipulate to his CV, stipulate to that would be the effect of his testimony and ask the Court to make a ruling based on that without a formal hearing." T. 97. The court then found that Stovall's testimony would be admissible. T. 97. At trial Stovall was tendered as an expert in the field of forensic interviewing of children. T. 388.

On appeal, Carter challenges the trial court's decision to admit Stovall and Dixon's expert testimony. This honorable Court will not disturb a trial court's decision to admit expert testimony unless the trial court's determination was clearly erroneous. *Cowart v. State*, 910 So.2d 726, 729 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

A witness "qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education" is allowed to testify and offer opinions if her "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." M.R.E. 702. The Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the modified *Daubert* standard for determining the admissibility

of expert testimony in *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003). The framework employed to determine whether expert testimony meets the requirements of M.R.E. 702 requires the trial determine whether the expert testimony is both relevant and reliable. *Id.* at 38 (¶16). The relevance requirement is simply a restatement of the M.R.E. 702 requirement that the testimony "assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." The factors employed to determine whether expert testimony is reliable include "whether the theory or technique can be and has been tested; whether it has been subjected to peer review and publication; whether, in respect to a particular technique, there is a high known or potential rate of error; whether there are standards controlling the technique's operation; and whether the theory or technique enjoys general acceptance within a relevant scientific community." *Id.* at 37 (¶13). However, the *McLemore* court made clear that "[t]he applicability of these factors depends on the nature of the issue, the expert's particular expertise, and the subject of the testimony." *Id.* (citing *Kumho Tire Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999)). Accordingly, the *Daubert* analysis is a flexible one, and the reliability factors are illustrative rather than definitive. *Id.* at 38 (¶16).

There is no question that both Dixon and Stovall were qualified to testify as experts and that their testimony was relevant. Dixon has a doctorate in educational psychology and counseling psychology, has twenty years professional experience as a child psychologist, has conducted approximately 300 forensic interviews, and has supervised more than 2,000 forensic interviews. T. 8, Exhibit S1. Stovall has a master's degree in counseling psychology, has four years experience as a child therapist and forensic interviewer at the Southwest Mississippi Children's Advocacy Center, has conducted between 500-600 forensic interviews, and has observed another 150 forensic interviews. T. 387, Exhibit S3. Further, both Dixon and Stovall have been accepted as experts multiple times in Mississippi courts. T. 18, 388.

This honorable Court has previously ruled, "While an expert may not opine that an alleged child sex abuse victim has been truthful, the scope of permissible expert testimony under Rule 702 includes an expert's opinion that the alleged victim's characteristics are consistent with those of children who have been sexually abused." *Elkins v. State*, 918 So.2d 828, 832 (¶ 9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). As such, Dixon and Stovall's testimony was relevant, as they both opined that V.K.'s statements were consistent with those of a sexually abused child.

Dixon and Stovall both testified as to the Corner House method utilized by CAC forensic interviewers, which were the methods utilized by Stovall during his interview of V.K. T. 9. The Corner House method is, "a semi-structured protocol which is research based and has been structured based on peer reviewed research in the child development and memory, suggestibility, linguistics, offender dynamics, victim dynamics, you know, a myriad of types of psychological research designed to inform our practice in forensic interviewing." T. 9. Dixon testified that the model is constantly under review and has been revised and updated. T. 14. Even Mooers testified that the methods utilized by CAC forensic interviewers are valid. T. 613. Mooers further testified that Stovall followed the protocol properly. T. 615. Accordingly, four of the five Daubert factors for testing the reliability of expert testimony were met. Carter essentially argues that a single Daubert factor, whether there is a high known or potential rate of error, was not met. However, as the McLemore court stated, the Daubert factors, which were formulated to assess the reliability of scientific testimony, may not be applicable in every case because "[t]oo much depends upon the particular circumstances of the particular case at issue." McLemore at 37 (¶13) (quoting Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999)). Because the Daubert factors were meant to be helpful rather than definitive, they should be considered only when "they are reasonable measures of the reliability of expert testimony." Mooneyham v. State, 915 So.2d 1102, 1107 (Miss. Ct. App.

2005). Accordingly, "the trial court has considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to go about determining whether particular expert testimony is reliable." *McLemore* at 37 (¶13). The trial court noted the flexibility in applying the factors during its ruling. T. 51-54.

The factor in question is simply inapplicable to the discipline in question. After defense counsel asked Stovall whether his conclusions as to whether a child's statement is consistent with abuse could be tested, the following exchange occurred.

- 410 Q. Maybe I wasn't clear. I wasn't talking about the specific interview itself. I'm talking about you and about the specific conclusions you reach when you make a decision that a child's story is consistent with what they're telling you or inconsistent. Is there a way for you to test yourself to know whether those rulings or findings are right or not?
 - A. Well I tell you what I can do. I can go back and view the tape, I can judge myself critically, I can take a look at the tactics that I employed and come up with --
 - Q. Other than you reviewing and satisfying yourself, is there a way that someone else can objectively look at your work and determine whether you have made a mistake?
 - A. If they judged my work according to the best practice or the best standard of literature that's out there now, then I'd have to say yes."
 - Q. There is no way, to a reasonable degree of certainty, that you can tell whether you are correct in determining whether someone's lying; is that right?
 - A. The forensic interview is one portion of the investigation, and ultimately it is the jury that determines whether a crime's taken place or not.

T. 410-11. Apparently, Carter's position is that unless a forensic interviewer can claim to be an infallible human lie detector, he cannot give expert testimony in the field of forensic interviewing.

¹A further reading of this portion of the transcript also reveals a blatant mischaracterization in the appellant's brief that Stovall said he had never been wrong and that juries that disagree with him are wrong.

However, as the trial court noted, "I don't think there's such a thing as an expert who can tell if people are telling the truth all the time or not. Obviously I think things of that nature would be outside the realm of permissible testimony." T. 52-53.

Carter wholly failed to show that the trial court's decision to admit Dixon and Stovall's testimony was clearly erroneous. As such, his first assignment of error necessarily fails.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE CHILD-VICTIM'S OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS WERE ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE TENDER-YEARS EXCEPTION.

Carter cites to no controlling law which states that testimony admissible under MRE 803(25) is limited to a certain number of witnesses who may testify as to the child-victim's out-of-court statement. Although he postures the argument as a an MRE 403 issue, such an objection was not raised at trial and is procedurally barred from being raised for the first time on appeal. Carter does not argue that the statements were inadmissible or that MRE 803(25) was incorrectly applied. Rather, he argues only that it was unfair for the State to have so much admissible testimony while Carter only had one chance to tell his version of events. "The appellant bears the burden on appeal, and we will entertain no claims for which no supporting authority has been cited." *Jones v. State*, 740 So.2d 904, 911 (¶22) (Miss. 1999) (quoting *Cavett v. State*, 717 So.2d 722, 724 (¶9) (Miss. 1998)).

III. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE CHILD-VICTIM'S INCOURT IDENTIFICATION OF THE APPELLANT.

Although V.K. did not initially recognize Carter in court, she explained that he looked different than the last time she saw him two years prior because he had shaved his head. T. 450. Carter also testified that he had changed his appearance since the last time he saw V.K. by shaving his moustache and goatee. T. 571. "The character and adequacy of evidence of identification of an accused in a criminal case is primarily a question for the jury, provided the evidence could reasonably be held sufficient to comply with the requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt." *Hardin v. State*, 932 So.2d 70, 72 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Passons v. State*, 239 Miss. 629, 634, 124 So.2d 847, 848 (Miss. 1960)). Accordingly, the trial court properly ruled that V.K.'s identification of Carter "goes to the credibility of the witness, it goes to the witness's memory and recollection, and that's the stuff of argument, not the stuff for mistrials." T. 460.

Furthermore, for the sake of argument only, even if V.K.'s identification of Carter was insufficient, "[A] positive identification of a suspect is not required if other evidence is sufficient to support the jury's verdict." *Edwards v. State*, 736 So.2d 475, 483 (¶29) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Bogard v. State*, 233 So.2d 102, 105 (Miss. 1970)). The proof was clearly sufficient to support the jury's verdict. V.K.'s testimony alone was sufficient to prove all of the required elements of the charge of sexual battery. She clearly named Carter as her abuser both at trial and numerous times prior to trial. There was no real question as to Carter's identity as Detective Haygood positively identified him in court, and Carter testified in his own behalf and identified himself as Bryant Carter. T. 310, 561. As such, Carter's third assignment of error is without merit.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS.

Carter claims that the trial court erred in limiting his cross-examination of Stovall regarding whether he had ever been wrong in his determination that a child's story was consistent with abuse and what it meant if a jury had disagreed with him. A plain reading of the record shows that defense counsel received an answer to both questions. When asked if Stovall had ever been wrong in his determination that a child's story was consistent with abuse, he clearly replied, "I'm sure I have."

T. 413. Regarding Stovall's subjective belief as to what it meant if a jury had disagreed with him, the following exchange occurred between defense counsel and Stovall.

- Q. Has a jury ever disagreed with you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you believe the jury was wrong?
- A. That was their findings and --
- Q. Well, it's a simple question. You just stated that you didn't believe you had ever been wrong, and a jury disagreed with you, so --

State: Your Honor, I object.

Court: I'll sustain. It's a simple question, and it's also a question that calls for a legal opinion, so I will sustain.

- Q. So if a jury disagrees with you, that doesn't necessarily mean you're wrong. Is that what you're telling me?
- A. I think it could mean that there was not enough evidence to prove abuse, or perhaps, for whatever reason, the case that presented wasn't as strong as it needed to be.
- T. 414. Carter's assertion that the trial court improperly limited cross-examination is contrary to the record, and his assertion that any such limitation violated the Confrontation Clause is too absurd to warrant a response.

Carter's remaining two allegations of error under this issue are simple questions of admission

and exclusion of evidence. Appellate courts will not reverse based on an error resulting from the admission or exclusion of evidence unless a substantial right of the defendant has been violated. Ladnier v. State, 878 So.2d 926, 933 (¶27) (Miss. 2004). No substantial right belonging to Carter was violated by the trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence.

V. CARTER'S DISPROPORTIONALITY ARGUMENT IS BOTH PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Carter was found guilty of sexual battery, in violation of Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-95(d). "Every person who shall be convicted of sexual battery under Section 97- 3-95(1)(d) who is eighteen (18) years of age or older shall be imprisoned for life in the State Penitentiary or such lesser term of imprisonment as the court may determine, but not less than twenty (20) years." Miss. Code Ann. 97-3-101(3). Carter's sentence of life imprisonment is clearly warranted by statute. His argument that this his sentence is disproportionate to the crime charged is procedurally barred because he failed to raise the issue at trial and failed to present the trial court with the statistical information required for a proper analysis. See *Edwards v. State*, 800 So.2d 454, 468 (¶44) (Miss. 2001).

Even if Carter's final issue were not procedurally barred, it also fails on the merits. As a general rule, sentences which do not exceed the statutory maximum will not be disturbed on appeal. *Johnson v. State*, 950 So.2d 178, 183 (¶22) (Miss. 2007). "[P]roviding punishment for crime is a function of the legislature, and, unless the punishment specified by statute constitutes cruel and unusual treatment, it will not be disturbed by the judiciary." *Id.* (citing *Presley v. State*, 474 So.2d 612, 620 (Miss. 1985)). In arguing that his sentence is disproportionate to the repulsive crime he committed, Carter relies on *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277 (1983). However, the United States Supreme Court overruled *Solem* to the extent that it found a guarantee of proportionality in the Eighth Amendment. *Harmelin v. Michigan*, 501 U.S. 957, 965 (1991) ("It should be apparent from the above discussion that our 5-to-4 decision eight years ago in *Solem* was scarcely the expression of clear and well accepted constitutional law. . . . We conclude from this examination that *Solem* was simply wrong; the Eighth Amendment contains no proportionality guarantee."). Nevertheless,

reviewing courts may still consider the *Solem* factors, but <u>only</u> when "a threshold comparison of the crime committed to the sentence imposed leads to an inference of gross disproportionality." *Johnson* at 183 (¶22).

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